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Introduction


People who say it cannot be done should not interrupt those who are doing it.1

—George Bernard Shaw



The disappearance of the Beaumont children was an event that worked itself into the story and psyche of Australia and haunted a family for more than fifty years. Still today, the images of nine-year-old Jane, seven-year-old Arnna, and four-year-old Grant represent the moment life changed forever in Australia on Australia Day, 26 January, in 1966. The children waved goodbye to their mother Nancy at the front gate of their home in a quiet seaside suburb of Somerton Park, twelve kilometres south-west of Adelaide, for a day out at nearby Glenelg beach. She never saw them again. Nancy went to her grave broken-hearted, not knowing what had happened to her children.

This inconceivable disappearance was a defining moment in the history of child abduction—an unsolved, heart-breaking crime so shocking that it shook Australia to its core, changed the country forever, and reverberated worldwide. Hidden among the crowd at Glenelg beach on Wednesday, 26 January 1966 was a predator on the hunt for his prey. The prey? Jane, Arnna, and Grant Beaumont. The case quickly turned from a disappearance into an abduction and led to one of the largest manhunts in Australian criminal history. What followed were fake leads, false trails, bizarre encounters with controversial clairvoyants, and numerous conspiracy theories—but nothing that led to the missing children. Over the decades, several suspects were put forward and investigated, with all coming to a dead end. Thus, fifty years later, the case remains unsolved—until now. Enter Harry Phipps.

In the 2013 bestselling book The Satin Man: Uncovering the Mystery of the Missing Beaumont Children, we, along with co-author Alan Whiticker, uncovered incriminating information regarding Phipps alluding to his alleged involvement in some way in the disappearance of the Beaumont children.2 Now, in Unmasking the Killer of the Missing Beaumont Children, we offer further extensive, damning, and alarming information based on a thorough, painstaking investigation over fourteen years, which now exposes Harry Phipps as the prime suspect in the abduction, disappearance, and likely murder of the Beaumont children. We set out why Harry Phipps was a preferential child molester and that there is no doubt that he committed child molestation offences before and since the Beaumont children. As Dr Xanthé Mallett, arguably Australia’s leading criminologist, states:


I have to say that in my opinion, Harry Phipps is the best suspect that has ever been put forward in the Beaumont abduction and disappearance. I consider him my number one suspect in this case.3



Over years of thorough investigation and research, we have identified Phipps, whom we believe is likely to have abducted and murdered the Beaumont children—a man who stood head and shoulders above all others and against whom the circumstantial evidence is compelling and overwhelming.

Harry Phipps was a pillar of old Adelaide society—a man of wealth, power, influence, and standing in the community. He was a well-respected businessman, a family patriarch, charming, persuasive, generous, and charismatic. On the surface, he was a gentleman, but in reality, he was a vicious, manipulative, and cunning predator. Unbeknown to the public, behind the walls of his Glenelg mansion in 1966 and decades onwards resided a violent, serial sexual predator—a man with a penchant for child sex. Harry Phipps was a wolf dressed in sheep’s clothing hidden under a cloak of respectability.

Armed with further disturbing information, we detail the lie lived by Harry Phipps, a serial sexual predator whose crimes went undetected for over four decades. He lived a mere 190 metres from Colley Reserve, where the Beaumont children were last seen playing with an individual who appeared to uncannily fit the physical description of Phipps. How was he able to avoid detection for so long, indeed going to his grave in 2004 with a clean record?

During this era, when hunting paedophiles and child-killers, police did not look for a respected, well-groomed man like Harry Phipps, no more than they looked at the clergy, the businessman, the entertainer, the parent, or the kind uncle or aunt, teacher, or swim coach. Police looked for an individual who fitted the 1960s view of a paedophile: a dirty old man. Now, in the twenty-first century, police know better.

But could this abduction and disappearance be that simple? Could the perpetrator in one of the most baffling missing-persons cases in Australian criminal history have lived in plain sight all along? Could the Beaumont children have died so close to the spot they had vanished from that same day? We detail why this may be the case and methodically expose Harry Phipps as the likely killer of the missing Beaumont children.






Chapter 1: The Beaumont Generation



Be home before the street lights come on.

—Parents of the 1960s



It was love at first sight when thirty-one-year-old Jim Beaumont set eyes on twenty-eight-year-old Nancy Ellis at the Victoria Hotel in Adelaide in 1955. Jim knew that Nancy was ‘the one’ and vice versa. He was struck by her natural beauty, captivating brown eyes, and coy smile. Nancy was outgoing, friendly, and a natural conversationalist who loved to laugh. Jim was so enamoured by her charm that he took the next nervous step to ask her out. A yes followed, capping off a memorable day that saw him win handsomely at the Balaklava races ninety kilometres north of Adelaide. The couple’s first date was at the Gepps Cross Drive-In, and six weeks later, Jim proposed. Though initially hesitant, Nancy accepted, and they married in December 1955.

As a teenager, Jim joined the army, serving in the 2/24th Battalion in Borneo in 1945. Even though he was christened Grant, he was known to his army buddies as Jim, and the name stuck. In the final year of World War 2, he received a shrapnel wound in the battle of Tarakan and was flown to Moroka Island Eastern Philippines for treatment, and this is where he saw out the rest of the war.4

After the end of hostilities, Jim decided not to go home, as his father had passed away while he was overseas. So, he volunteered in 1945 for the occupation units in Japan for two years, as he believed this to be an exciting opportunity to explore a different country. Upon return, Jim was discharged. He bought several taxis and began work for Adelaide’s largest taxi company. Nancy, on the other hand, was a typist at the City Meat Company in North Adelaide. After they married, Jim and Nancy purchased a war-service house on the corner of Harding and Patterson streets in Somerton Park, close to the well-established suburbs of Brighton, Somerton, and Glenelg.

On 10 September 1956, Jim and Nancy welcomed their first child, Jane Nartare, followed on 11 November 1958 by Arnna Kathleen, and, to complete this family unit, Grant Ellis Beaumont was born on 12 July 1961. With three children and a busy family life, Jim sold his taxis and joined the Lincott Linen Company as a sales manager. Even though he needed to stay overnight in country towns, the hours were more regular and, if he worked hard, the money was much better. This job gave him more time to spend with the family.

Both Jim and Nancy were described by many as proud, loving parents. The Beaumont children spent the early years of their lives in Somerton Park, and like any other Australian suburb in the 1960s, it was a magical time of wonder and immense possibility. The suburb you lived in was your universe. Life in South Australia during the 1960s was more carefree and less complicated than that faced by children today. Many have termed this ‘the Beaumont generation era’. Jane and Arnna attended Paringa Park Primary School, a two-kilometre walk from their home. In 1966, Jane was entering Year 5 and Arnna Year 4. The school was small in class size compared to its neighbouring schools in Brighton and Glenelg. There was one class per year level. Grant was four and remained at home in the care of his mother.



There was much to explore for children who lived around the beachside suburbs south of Adelaide. A sixteen-kilometre stretch of foreshore ran from Semaphore to Seacliff. All were working-class family suburbs, many with immigrants who had arrived only a few years earlier from the UK, Italy, Greece, and Germany. The beachside suburbs close to Somerton Park were dotted with an array of Victorian buildings, historic pubs built at the turn of the century, several jetties, and an array of pristine beachside parks. The jewel in the crown was the city of Glenelg, which was a major hub of commerce and leisure and still is today. This piece of coastline faced the Gulf of St Vincent with Kangaroo Island at its entrance, which kept these beachside suburbs sheltered from the occasional choppy seas and strong currents. The foreshore was calm, flat, and inviting. Seaside towns were well suited to recreational pursuits, with numerous parks and grassed areas. This provided an ideal community environment for children to spend summer days at the beach without parental supervision. This is unheard of today but was the norm in the 1960s.

Jane, Arnna, and Grant’s favourite beach was Glenelg, with its expansive pristine lawns of Colley Reserve sweeping down close to the water’s edge, the flat, calm sea gently lapping the shoreline. Glenelg Beach and Colley Reserve during the summer school holidays were crowded with excited, noisy, energetic children running in and out and under the sprinklers, playing tag and hide-and-seek, or flicking each other with wet-tipped towels.

Another popular beach location in the summer months was Brighton Beach and pier, five kilometres south of Glenelg, which was also brimming with excited children and teenagers. Capable beachgoers performed somersaults or acrobatic stunts off the pier, but for the less coordinated came the sting of the water five metres below. Scores of kids barely able to swim would dog paddle to keep themselves afloat. The jetty had neither lifeguards nor water-safety signs. It was a chaotic situation, difficult to fathom in today’s environment, but this was a child’s life in the 1960s.

A child’s life in the summer holidays was all about spending time with friends, and breakfast was a rushed job: toast with Vegemite followed by a bowl of Kellogg’s Corn Flakes, Vita Brits, Rice Bubbles, or the poor man’s porridge—semolina. They would then head out through the door with these words from their mother embedded in their brain: ‘Be home before the streetlights come on.’ Other than that, the day was yours.

Each day presented unlimited adventures. For children armed with their imagination, anything was possible. Kids congregated with their friends in the local streets or parks to discuss plans for the day. Riding bikes to the beach or the Adelaide Hills, building a treehouse, or meeting up at the local park could all be on the agenda. Every suburb had a playground, with hours spent on monkey bars, swings, buck-a-bouts, jungle gyms, seesaws, and roundabouts. These recreational parks would be deemed hazardous by today’s standards due to a lack of any safety measures. No rubber matting, guardrails, or protective covers. You might say it was a time when playgrounds were potentially deadly, but plenty of fun.

The day offered so much, with only eight hours to fit in all the adventures. Building a cubby house in the backyard was a regular occurrence. For the more adventurous, treehouses were constructed at the local creek or in open farmland never too far away using a collection of wooden planks, old milk crates, and tyres, coupled with wooden boxes and sheets of cardboard, all pieced together with a child’s ingenuity. Construction of billycarts required a trip to the local rubbish tip, where children would fossick for old pram wheels, broken bike parts, and discarded wooden planks and boxes. What immediately followed were soapbox-cart races in the local streets. Neighbourhood children and, at times, parents raced, none wearing helmets, much less knee or elbow guards. One does wonder how children came out of the 1960s unscathed, apart from the odd lingering scar on the knee and elbow.

Groups of youngsters on bicycles ventured many kilometres into the foothills of Adelaide. These foothills were dotted with freshwater creeks, swimming holes, and expansive farmlands where one could spend the entire day swimming, fishing, and catching yabbies or tadpoles. So far from home, and yet lunch was always close in the form of the orange, apple, peach, almond, and nectarine trees for which South Australia is well known. One’s thirst was always well quenched with clear, clean drinking water from the creeks.

Children and teenagers followed the river Torrens winding its way through the Adelaide Hills—meandering through forests and farmland and cutting through the Adelaide CBD—and ambling on its way through the sparseness of suburbs to the sea. Nothing was cemented in or fenced off, and no ‘Trespassers Prosecuted’ signs blocked the way. Children enjoyed a Huckleberry Finn-style lifestyle. Rainy, grey, wintry days did not stop them. These were spent indoors with friends building a bedroom cubby house with Mum’s clean sheets, with pillows and blankets attached from bunk to bunk. Playing indoor games such as Monopoly, Snakes and Ladders, or Mouse Trap also took up many hours, as did piecing together model cranes, toy cars, LEGO buildings and Meccano pieces.

Train sets and Scalextric cars were also popular—soap added to the tracks made for awe-inducing spinouts, thrilling boys no end. Young girls compared their Barbie dolls’ new outfits, spending hours hosting dress-up sessions. This might be considered sexist today, but the 1960s were a very different era. If not venturing into the foothills or down to the beach, Saturday morning interschool sport was popular—netball, softball, Australian Rules football, cricket, or soccer. Paringa Park Primary School, where Jane and Arnna Beaumont attended, would compete against primary schools in the local area—Oaklands Park, Dover Gardens, St Leonards, Ascot Park, Brighton, Glenelg, Warradale, and Stuart’s school, Darlington.

With Saturday morning sport completed, groups of friends visited the local bakery or lolly shop. A favourite pastime among the children was scrounging up loose change to spend. At times, children discussed what they might buy should they ever find themselves with a pound note—how rich they would be! The pound note was the Holy Grail and only seen in your mum’s purse or your dad’s wallet. Its buying power was immense and brought with it a real wow factor.

The rest of the afternoon was taken up playing with friends; riding bikes, scooters, and tricycles; kicking the football; shooting netball goals; or playing backyard cricket. Children enjoyed hopscotch, red rover, red light–green light, tag, skipping rope, hula-hoop, quoits, marbles, playing cowboys and Indians, making bows and arrows, and everyone’s favourite hide-and-seek.

Unlike today, youngsters were allowed to ride on the bus to the movies, beaches, or into the city, alone. Kids could buy cigarettes for their parents from the local shop—by today’s standards difficult to fathom—and freely purchase fireworks for the annual Guy Fawkes (Cracker Night) celebration in November. Children had no idea who Guy Fawkes was and why this day was celebrated, but buying a plentiful amount of firecrackers together with matches to terrorise the neighbourhood was a must. Most children were quite inventive, concocting a more powerful cracker by binding them together with tape or rubber bands, and placing smaller explosives in metal garbage bins or down drainpipes to amplify the explosion to frighten the neighbours. Considered irresponsible by today’s standards, this was the norm in the 1960s. As children, much fun was to be had. Rainy days or sunny days were all the same for children back then.

Primary school was disciplined and regimented, with manners, respect, and courtesy insisted upon. Children would not speak unless spoken to. Each school employed a part-time Religious Instruction teacher. Classes were broken up for Religious Instruction and divided along denomination lines: Methodist, Baptist, Presbyterian, Catholic, and Seventh-day Adventist. Lack of church attendance was frowned upon, with the local priest or minister paying a home visit to remind one of their duties to the Almighty.

The school morning always began with the class standing for the national anthem and pledging allegiance to the Queen. One did not question authority. The cane and open-hand smacking were regularly employed by teachers. Several teachers smoked cigarettes in the classroom—with the odour of the lighter fluid wafting through.

School children were encouraged to read regularly, utilising the education department’s SRA reading laboratory, still used extensively throughout South Australian primary schools.

Jane Beaumont was already reading from the highest colour category, which was well above her age group and featured smaller text and longer, more intricately woven stories. Most teachers set aside a half-hour in the afternoon to read the children’s favourite fairytales. Pupils eagerly awaited this storytelling by gathering on the mats placed at the front of the class. They listened intently to their teacher’s words, painting magical worlds filled with fascinating mythical creatures and worlds of kings, queens, fairies, pixies, elves, and goblins. Among favourites were Enid Blyton’s The Magic Faraway Tree, C. S. Lewis’s The Lion, the Witch and the Wardrobe, and Roald Dahl’s Charlie and the Chocolate Factory. While the teacher quietly read to the class, pupils would on occasion drift off to sleep, only to be woken by the clang of the bell to end the school day. As C. S. Lewis, British writer and theologian, once said, ‘Some day you will be old enough to start reading fairy tales again.’5

While children spent most of the day outdoors, there was the occasional time spent indoors watching the black-and-white HMV television—if indeed you had one. TV channels started transmission in time for the midday movie. Popular TV shows included Lassie, Zorro, Texas Rangers, Rin Tin Tin, The Little Rascals, Robin Hood, and the Japanese imports The Samurai and Phantom Agents. Adelaide had its own children’s show every weekday afternoon: The Channel Niners with Ian Fairweather and Glenys O’Brien, featuring Bobo the Clown.

Children spending time indoors was discouraged by parents. When Nancy or Jim Beaumont were home, Grant, Arnna, and Jane were sent to play outdoors in the fresh air—the same request from most parents to their children in the 1960s.

If you think Uber Eats is new, think again. The 1960s was also a time of home delivery, usually to the kitchen door. Bakers and the milkman arrived each morning and the grocer several times a week. Doctors made house calls, and the ice-cream van was ever-present in the summer months.

Adelaide in the 1960s had a few special organised annual events that residents eagerly looked forward to. At the Royal Adelaide Show, staged at the local showgrounds, South Australia would put on an impressive display of farmers’ produce and parade prized livestock. Other highlights included the wood-chopping championships, dog and cat grooming awards, and show-jumping finals, to name but a few. Numerous pavilions displayed the best of South Australia’s farming produce, handicrafts, and horticulture.

For children, all this paled in comparison to the show bag pavilion, the be-all and end-all for adolescents in the 1960s. No other building mattered. Youngsters saved their money all year to buy as many show bags as possible. Mum’s favourite would be the Cadbury or Darrell Lea chocolate, but the kids went mad for the Hoadley’s, Life Savers, Bertie Beetle, licorice, Cherry Ripe, Eta peanut butter and Kit Kat bags. Children and parents returned home tired and weary after a long day. Once the kids unloaded the contents of each show bag across the bedroom floor, they were ready for bed, leaving mums and dads across Adelaide to relax in front of the TV and delve into their treats. Mr and Mrs Beaumont were one such set of parents.

Another major event many enjoyed was John Martin’s Christmas pageant. John Martin & Co (known colloquially as ‘John Martin’s’) was South Australia’s leading department store in the 1960s, located on Rundle Street, arguably Adelaide’s most prestigious street. Thousands of excited families eagerly awaited the Christmas parade each year. The parade culminated with the final float, Santa’s Christmas sleigh steered by his reindeer to his magic cave located inside the John Martin’s department store. Here, children lined up waiting for their turn to sit on Santa’s lap surrounded by his helpers.

Early January was followed by the annual family holiday. Stuart’s family, like the Beaumont household, enjoyed their yearly caravanning holiday. By today’s standards, the word ‘caravan’ should be used lightly. A 1960s trailer? A roundish plywood box with a sink and mattress? But, for many children, this was their moving castle on wheels.

For the summer holidays, some families travelled interstate, meandering along the majestic Great Ocean Road connecting South Australia to Victoria, stopping to take in the breathtaking ocean views from the jagged clifftops. This picturesque, rugged coastline road made its way on to the seaside towns of Torquay, Barwon River, and Geelong. Holidays enjoyed at the caravan parks were spent outdoors playing with other children. Great new shiny friends were plentiful. These childhood holiday memories last a lifetime.

If not away caravanning, then visiting Glenelg’s Colley Reserve in the evening was popular. Adelaide is well known for its stifling summers with temperatures regularly reaching the high 30s degrees Celcius, or 100°F in the old scale, and remaining that way for several days. Families from across town would venture from their homes to the foreshore of Glenelg seeking a respite from the suburban heat. The sweeping, expansive lawns of the reserve, coupled with the cool evening breeze, gave a reprieve from another ‘Adelaide stinker’. As the sun set beneath the distant horizon, the coloured lights—green, orange, yellow, and purple—were strung along the Glenelg beachfront, which was host to the Colley Reserve sideshow, the age-old sound of the organ music emanating from a turn-of-the-century merry-go-round.

As the sideshow came to life, so did Colley Reserve. Hundreds of families would stake their place on the lawns to lay out their blankets and unpack their picnic baskets. Inside would be a metal tea or coffee thermos with coloured metal tumblers, alongside a Bobo the Clown cordial bottle coupled with a mum’s favourite homemade triangle sandwiches and lamingtons. The Salvation Army band took their rightful place in the rotunda still located in the centre of the park to this day. As the band commenced, the melodies and ambience were complimented by the soft, calming lights strung from pine tree to pine tree surrounding the reserve.

A child’s life in the 1960s was truly awe-inspiring—carefree, magical, uncluttered, and full of wonder.

For the Beaumont family, this all tragically changed on 26 January 1966. Jim was not to know that he would see his children for the last time the day before, on Tuesday, 25 January, when he dropped Jane, Arnna, and Grant at the beach in the morning. He stood at a distance, watching them spread their towels before going for a swim, comfortable in the knowledge they were safe.

He then left for a long drive north to Snowtown for sales calls. The lasting image he had of his children was them smiling as they waved goodbye to Dad—an image that would break anyone’s heart. The following morning, Nancy Beaumont stood at the front gate and waved goodbye to her children as they walked around the corner to the bus stop to set off for their morning at Glenelg beach. It was the last time she would see her children.






Chapter 2: What Happened That Day



The abduction of a child is a tragedy. No-one can fully understand or appreciate what a parent goes through at such a time unless they have faced a similar tragedy.6

—John Walsh



On Australia Day 1966, Adelaide was experiencing a heatwave. The hot, dry northerly winds blowing down from the northern deserts of South Australia hit the city and beaches like the open door of a blast furnace, with the thermometer reaching 42°C or 107°F.

The Beaumont children woke early, excited at what the day might bring. Arnna and Grant ran into their parents’ bedroom, waking their mother, Nancy, by jumping up and down on the bed. Both children were joyfully pestering her to allow them to go to the beach. Even though Jane was an early riser, she was not necessarily the first out of bed, as she usually read part of her current book—in this case, Little Women by Louisa May Alcott—before joining her siblings in bothering their mum. They had spent time at Glenelg the previous day and wanted to go back. The start of a new school year was just around the corner, and that day was one of the last opportunities to enjoy the school break at the beach.

Nancy understood their excitement, but she realised from the early morning that the day was going to be oppressively hot. By 8 am, the barometer showed signs that the high thirties would be reached by midday. She was not keen on the children walking or riding their bicycles to the beach in such heat; Glenelg was 2.5 kilometres from their home at Somerton Park, and even though the children had ridden their bikes there in the past, they would not be doing it that day. If Jim had been home, he would have been happy to take them, as he had done the previous day, but he had just returned to work after a summer holiday break, and he needed to make sales calls in country areas north of Adelaide and had stayed overnight.

Nancy was not an avid beachgoer, and she had housework to complete. In the back of her mind, she knew that Grant, Arnna, and Jane would eagerly persist, eventually driving her up the wall. Added to this was the thought of three bored children inside the hot house. Arnna and Grant were also making a little mischief for Jane, cheekily repeating to their mum, ‘Jane’s got a boyfriend! Jane’s got a boyfriend!’ Nancy didn’t pay much attention to this talk or the insinuation that Jane might have a childhood infatuation with someone at the beach. She was more concerned with how she was going to keep three hot, bored children from driving her crazy in the house.

Nancy relented and allowed them to venture to the beach to swim for a short time, even though in the back of her mind was the feeling she should go to the beach with them. She insisted they take the local bus and be home by lunchtime. Nancy gave Jane approximately eight shillings and sixpence—enough for the bus ride to and from Glenelg and to buy lunch for them all. Jane placed this money in her beige clip purse, which she packed inside her blue airline-style carry bag along with three towels: one small blue towel and two with the same pattern of yellow, black, green, red, and white stripes. Also in Jane’s bag was a paperback copy of Little Women. She wore one-piece pink bathers with pale green shorts and tartan canvas sandshoes with white soles.

Arnna wore a one-piece red-and-white-striped bathing suit with tan shorts and tan sandals. She sported a bright orange hairpin in her hair.

Grant wore green-and-white bathers under green cotton shorts and red leather sandals. He did not wear a singlet because they were only going to be at the beach for two hours. According to an article in the Adelaide newspaper The News on 2 February 1966 titled ‘Calls Pour In’, when the detectives spoke with Nancy, she said, ‘Grant didn’t have a singlet or T-shirt as I thought they would be home in a few hours. I know what little ones are like. They would not be bothered with underclothes.’7 The children left home shortly before 10 am. Nancy stood at the front gate of their house on the corner of Harding and Peterson Street to wave them goodbye. The children walked fifty metres, then turned ten metres left to the Diagonal Road bus stop, where they caught the local red-and-white Worthley’s bus, which began its rounds from Seacombe Gardens five kilometres up the road. This trip was a ten-minute ride to Glenelg. Little did Nancy know this was the last time she would ever see her children.

Jane, Arnna, and Grant alighted the bus at the corner of Moseley Street and Jetty Road. As they hopped off the bus on the busy main thoroughfare of Glenelg, they bumped into their postman, Tom Patterson. ‘It’s the postie!’ an excited Jane exclaimed.

Tom delivered their mail in the morning and afternoon, riding his trusted postman’s bike. The ‘postie’ was an integral part of the neighbourhood in the 1960s, and most children knew theirs by name.

A brisk hundred-metre walk took the children across Jetty Road, the main thoroughfare to Colley Reserve and the beach, according to eyewitnesses: a seventy-four-year-old lady with her partner sitting on a park bench, along with another younger lady and her young daughter standing close by. They had a clear twenty-metre unobstructed view of the children. They stated Jane, Arnna, and Grant placed their belongings close to the water’s edge before running into the shallows, where they were splashing one another for some time. Jane’s best friend Jenny, when interviewed by Stuart Mullins in 2017, said that she accompanied Jane to Colley Reserve on many occasions in summer because Grant couldn’t swim. Jane made sure he only went up to his belly button. The witnesses then watched the children run up from the water’s edge to lay their towels near two pine trees in a quiet corner of the foreshore hidden by the sailing club and the sideshow.

As well as the previously mentioned witnesses, there was a younger man with his family from Broken Hill, an outback mining town in New South Wales, who was in Adelaide with his family to attend the cricket test at the Adelaide Oval between Australia and England starting that Friday. All of these witnesses had noticed a man lying face-down on his towel watching Jane, Arnna, and Grant run up from the beach and dash over to the sprinklers to wash the salt water off. When the children returned to their towels, Grant and Arnna walked over and began to talk and laugh with the man; Jane soon followed. He did not beckon them; they went willingly and appeared familiar. Grant and Arnna jumped over him, and Jane flicked him with her towel. All were laughing and playing happily together, encouraged by this man.

Descriptions of this individual were varied right from the start, which would go on to become a major diversion in the police investigation. The seventy-four-year-old witness described this man as a suntanned surfie with blond hair in need of cutting. Some members of the media pounced on this, eager to have this uncorroborated information out in the public domain. By the time this reached the papers, they emphasised the detail of the unruly mop of bleached blond hair and further described him as a young surfie-type beachcomber. This description of a younger man still permeates the media today, even though other eyewitnesses corrected it three days later.

However, the initial search and investigation by the police and detectives were based on the original description of the man seen with the children, and as long as they and the general public were looking for a long-haired surfie-type, the individual who abducted the Beaumont children would go undetected.

One of these witnesses, the young man from Broken Hill, stated that the man seen with the Beaumont children had fair to light-brown hair that was combed back and was not in need of cutting. Another witness added that this hair was brushed back and parted to one side.

The agreed-upon description of the man seen playing with the Beaumont children that day was aged between late thirties to early forties, tanned, with a thin-to-athletic build, and light brown brushed-back hair with a wave in it and parted to one side. His height was six foot to six foot one, and he was wearing blue bathers with a white stripe down either side—the same colours as the nearby Henley Beach Surf Life Saving Club. He appeared to be a well-groomed, clean-shaven man with a long face and high forehead, and he spoke with an Australian accent. By Friday 28 January, the Adelaide Advertiser sketch artist Peter Czarnecki was collaborating with detectives from the Glenelg police station. The man from Broken Hill, the elderly lady, and the younger lady who was at the reserve with her daughter on Wednesday all confirmed that a sketch done by Peter resembled the man seen with the children. Police then emphasised to the media on Monday 31 January that the man had light brown, brushed-back hair, and that the man’s hair was not long, blonde, and in need of cutting, as previously reported in Adelaide news broadcasts on TV and radio from Thursday 27 to Sunday 30 January.

This man seen at the Colley Reserve was not in his early twenties or a mature teenager. The original description of the man was never correct, despite being repeated multiple times in parts of the media over the ensuing decades.

Eyewitnesses also noted the man had with him a towel, which he was lying on, and a shirt and trousers, which he had placed on the park bench next to where the elderly couple were sitting. This was only about five metres from where the eyewitnesses were located. According to their witness statements, no wallet, carry bag, or car keys were spotted.

The eyewitnesses said that after the man had spent time playing with Jane, Arnna, and Grant, he approached the elderly woman sitting on the park bench a few metres away from where they were all playing. Also close by was the younger lady with her daughter and the Broken Hill family. All were close enough to hear the man speaking. The elderly lady thought the man asked, ‘Did any of you people see anyone with our clothes?’

When asked why, he stated, ‘We’ve had some money taken.’ The other two witnesses nearby believed the man said, ‘Has anyone been messing with our clothes? We have had our money pinched.’

The agreed-upon final account was ‘Has anyone been messing with our clothes? We have had our money pinched.’8 After this interaction, the man returned to the children.

What concerned the sets of witnesses was the man’s use of ‘we’. The curiosity of the witnesses was further aroused when they witnessed the man dressing the children. On hearing this, Nancy Beaumont was astonished, for several reasons. Both Nancy and Jim had warned the children on many occasions over the years not to talk to strangers. Also, Jane and Arnna had been capable of dressing themselves for years.

The witnesses, Nancy and Jim Beaumont, and detectives could not understand why this man felt the need to assist the children with such a simple task as pulling shorts up over swimmers. Even stranger to Nancy and Jim was the idea that their children appeared comfortable with him doing so. The man certainly appeared to have their confidence. He appeared nice, caring, attentive, and concerned. He did not appear to be a ‘dirty old man’ or someone who posed a threat. To Jane, Arnna, and Grant, he was not a stranger.

A female eyewitness stated that the man and the children were still chatting on the lawn just before noon. At about 12.05 pm, the man picked up his towel, trousers, and shirt and walked north toward the Colley Reserve changerooms with the children following, Jane carrying her blue bag and the towels. However, it now appeared Jane had no purse, as this seemed to have been ‘pinched’ by the so-called thief. The direction they walked with the man was the opposite direction to the children’s bus stop, and this was around the time they were supposed to head home.

The female witnesses saw the man enter the changing sheds at about 12.10 pm, and both stated Jane, Arnna, and Grant waited outside for him. It was also stated that the children were not seen walking back along the reserve and did not return to where they had been playing.

The last known sighting of the Beaumont children was about 12.25 pm to 12.30 pm at the iconic Wenzel’s Bakery in Moseley Street, just off the main thoroughfare of Jetty Road and across the road from the children’s bus stop. The Beaumont children were not with the man, and they did not appear to have their towels at Wenzel’s, nor Jane her carry bag.

The shop assistant at Wenzel’s knew the children well because they regularly visited the popular bakery. The assistant said Jane bought one pie, five pasties, six finger buns, and two large bottles of fizzy drink—paid for with a one-pound note. The assistant found it unusual as Jane had never paid with a pound note previously, only in coins of shillings and pence. This pound note Jane paid with was a significant amount of money in 1966. The average weekly wage was eight pounds, so this amount of money equated to a day’s work—by today’s standards, around 140 dollars. This amount of money was a significant amount of cash for Jane or any other child to have. The question has been asked for decades: who was wealthy enough to give a hard-earned one-pound note to children they hardly knew?

This one-pound note was a pivotal piece of information to detectives in 1966 and has been ever since. So the questions are: Where did Jane get it? Who was wealthy enough to part with a hard-earned one-pound note to a young girl? After spending this money at Wenzel’s Bakery, the Beaumont children were never seen again, as if they had just vanished off the face of the earth.

While the children were at the beach, and unknown to Nancy Beaumont, an abduction was unfolding. By mid-morning, Nancy visited a neighbour for a cup of tea and to catch up on gossip. Just before noon, she left on her trusty bicycle and rode to meet the children at the bus stop. When they did not arrive, she believed they might have missed their ride due to having too much fun at the beach.

Back at home, friends of Nancy and Jim had popped over to say hello, and all the while, Nancy kept a close eye on the time.

She was expecting the children to walk in the front door around 1 pm, the time the next bus arrived. By 2 pm, the children still had not come home, and Nancy started to get very anxious indeed. Her friend offered to drive her to the beach, but she thought the children might have walked back from Glenelg and she did not want to miss them. So, she felt it best to wait for the 3 pm bus. However, just before the bus arrived, Jim pulled up in the driveway unexpectedly. He was returning home early from Snowtown, and to greet him was distressed Nancy stating, ‘The children have not returned home.’ Jim assured Nancy that if anything untoward had happened, they would have known about it by now. Outwardly, Jim was showing calmness. Inwardly, he was just as concerned as Nancy.

Jim was immediately out in his car driving the streets of Glenelg, hoping to spot his children. He parked his vehicle and walked the side streets and over to where the children had played the previous day, frantically searching, but there was no sign of them among the large crowd of people on the beach and at Colley Reserve. Jim then drove back to the house to pick up Nancy, and they drove around the streets of Glenelg and adjoining suburbs for several hours. With no sign of their children, they headed to the Glenelg police station at approximately 5 pm.

Detective Constable Mostyn Matters was confronted by a distraught Mr and Mrs Beaumont reporting their children missing. Mos was part of the team headed up by Detective Ron Blight with his subordinates Matters, Lloyd Brand, Peter Tremalick, and Peter Vogel, forming the Criminal Investigation Branch (CIB) at the Glenelg Police Station. Initially, the police presumed that the children would turn up shortly, that they might have stopped in at a friend’s house or simply lost track of time. An abduction never entered their minds.

By 5.30 pm, however, a patrol car that was sent to the Beaumont residence to check the house and talk to the neighbours radioed in to report that they had not located the children. If there hadn’t been before, there was now a collective realisation among the Glenelg detectives that the Beaumont children were indeed missing and possibly in grave trouble.

Mostyn Matters, commonly known as Mos, is the only living detective who was present at the Glenelg station on 26 January 1966, and he still has vivid memories of that fateful day and the weeks that followed. When speaking with us, Mos said the initial meeting with Nancy and Jim Beaumont left him and the other Glenelg detectives mentally scarred for the rest of their lives. To Mos and the team, one child missing was one child too many. As Mostyn said, when meeting both of us in 2010, ‘We were all family men with young children, and the thought of losing them, coupled with dealing with a deeply distressed Mr and Mr Beaumont, shattered us all. Neither I or [sic] the other detectives had ever encountered such a situation.’

They all kept asking the same question over and over: How could three children just vanish? It was very unlikely they had all drowned or together had encountered a misadventure. One maybe, but three? Surely someone was holding them against their will and a phone call from a kidnapper would be received requesting a ransom or something similar. Matters remembers the team working well into the early hours of the morning, with Ron Blight, the lead detective, on the phone constantly with the CIB in Adelaide. Mostyn to this day does not remember his boss without a cigarette in his hand and a cup of coffee close by.

In the days that followed the disappearance, the police station was inundated with well-meaning members of the public lining up wishing to speak with detectives. For days on end, there was a line of people that stretched over 100 metres winding down the footpath. Matters and the team had only one phone line into the police station, and it ran hot day and night. All accounts that were deemed to be credible needed to be written down by the officers and then typed up. There were only a few typewriters to share.

When Mostyn Matters was being interviewed by journalist Frank Pangallo for Today Tonight, Adelaide, Mostyn said, ‘We were just a small outfit. We were doing our best, but we could not possibly interview everybody. It was just impossible, nothing was really organised like it should have been.’9

The team worked tirelessly up to sixteen hours a day with some, at times, sleeping at the station. They became agitated by a throng of local interstate and international press camped on the footpath and road outside morning, noon, and night. Any police officer seen walking the shopping precinct of Glenelg was accosted for an interview in the hope of an exclusive. It did appear any snippet of newsworthy information—whether fact-checked or not—quickly made its way to radio, TV, or the front page of the papers. Some of this information was not correct but went to print anyway before it could be corroborated. The most annoying thing for police was the description of the man seen with the children that hit the press: a beachcomber surfie with bleached blond mop-topped hair in need of cutting. To this day, Mostyn still gets annoyed that this characterisation is used in the media.

In an Advertiser article on 2 February 1966, an individual stated that ‘Jane, Arnna, and Grant walked south behind the Pier Hotel Glenelg toward their home at Somerton Park’.10 This sighting was corrected later by detectives who ascertained that the children seen were not the Beaumonts, but it still did the rounds in the media for years, further muddying the waters.

A newspaper headline—‘New Sex Attack Fears’ on The News 29 January front page11—further sowed fear into the mindset of the South Australian public.

Further headlines included ‘Chase after three children in car’, ‘Hectic chase through the Eastern Suburbs’ (The News 31 January front page headlines12), and better still, the Adelaide Advertiser of 11 February—‘A secret search for the bodies of the Beaumont Children is being made by Victorian Police on four small islands near Port Phillip Heads’.13

Years later, Mos Matters made a telling comment to us: ‘We really did not know who we were looking for. We had so little quality information. It was as if the children just disappeared off the face of the earth.’

The whole team was shattered. Ron Blight was a worrier at the best of times and was known to chain-smoke. Many believed this disappearance exacerbated his already existing health problems. Mostyn said to us that, even though Ron Blight was outwardly giving hope to the public and Nancy and Jim Beaumont, Blight, Mostyn, and the rest of the team were thinking these children had already met their fate not long after meeting the man. They may have been right.

We now have knowledge the detectives didn’t have in 1966: child abduction and murder statistics from a 2006 study conducted by the Criminal Division of the Washington State Attorney General’s Office state that, of abducted children who are murdered, around seventy-six percent are killed within three hours of being taken. Also, in seventy-four percent of the missing children homicide cases studied, the child murder victim was female, and the average age was eleven years old.14 Mr Beaumont’s anxiety was further heightened by the knowledge that his children were frightened of the dark and were never out at that time by themselves. The reality of what might have happened began to sink in. Jim spent the evening and well into the early hours of the next morning searching the foreshores of the beachside suburbs and back streets in a patrol car with constables, a loudspeaker attached to the roof blaring, ‘Have you seen three children?’ But they needed more help, and this came very soon.

Ron Blight alerted the Adelaide CIB of the gravity of the situation that was unfolding, and it sent thirty extra police officers to Glenelg to assist in the search, which went into the early hours of the morning. Over the following days, and with the help of the public and Jim Beaumont’s old taxi colleagues, they scoured the foreshores and sandhills of the surrounding beaches and the back streets. They searched the main thoroughfares of Glenelg and nearby suburbs. Neighbours walked the different routes the children might have taken home. As word spread, more information hit the media; radio and television gave regular news updates. Officers were sent to search the family home in case the children had returned and were hiding. One local Glenelg resident who lived in Augusta Street in 1966 told Stuart Mullins they remembered scores of police officers searching local residential gardens for what he believed would be any discarded children’s clothing or other items. Police also retraced the bus route the children took and the different directions they would have walked if they missed their ride.

The police door knocked local residences, checked backyards, and spoke to local bus drivers. They checked interstate bus and train movements and set up roadblocks.

The abduction of three children was unheard of, not just in Australia, but around the world. The police, press, and public alike were asking who could be so brazen as to commit such a heinous act in a crowded location in broad daylight. Not only were South Australian detectives left scratching their heads, but so too were interstate and overseas criminal investigators and the media. Ron Blight and his team worked tirelessly, leaving no stone unturned in their investigation

Mrs Beaumont was questioned by detectives to ascertain the correct timeline and exact descriptions of Jane, Arnna, and Grant. The information was immediately sent out through news bulletins locally and interstate. With her children missing, Nancy became so distressed that she required sedation.

As word spread over the next few days and weeks, teams of volunteers again combed the sandhills of the beaches and surrounding foreshore. The Police Emergency Operations Group was called into the search, with five boats from the Sea Rescue Squadron searching the Patawalonga Boat Haven in Glenelg, which they had drained and searched. They scoured the local seas for any floating remnants of the children. There was a thought that Jane, Arnna, and Grant could have been victims of a misadventure. They might have dug a sand cave that had collapsed on them or ventured too far into a seaside stormwater drain. Mr Beaumont, with assistance, continued the search and refused to rest until his children were found; however, the parents’ worst nightmare was unfolding. As Mostyn Matters stated, ‘This was sheer heartbreak, watching both Jim and Nancy unravel.’ This disappearance emotionally affected many people. The detectives at the station were never the same. They never shook the memory and vision of these distraught parents. And all of those detectives who have since died went to the grave with a feeling of ill-deserved guilt that they could have done more.

Like Mostyn and the team, Australia was in a state of disbelief and shock. Three children missing without a trace was unfathomable. Jim Beaumont gave a press conference on the morning of 27 January saying that someone must be holding his children against their will. Sadly, he was right.






Chapter 3: The Sorrowful Years



How do you mend a broken heart?

Sometimes you can’t.

—Stuart Mullins



We have enjoyed many talks with Mostyn Matters about the weeks, months, and years that passed after the children’s disappearance. His accounts, insights, and commentary are enlightening and indeed invaluable. Mos’s heartfelt emotions can sometimes get the better of him when he recounts the collective grief experienced by many regarding those tragic days.

Coupled with Mostyn’s recollections, Stuart also had the opportunity to meet and speak with Peter Vogel (who has since passed away) more than ten years ago. Peter, like Mostyn, was a detective stationed at Glenelg that fateful day in 1966. They spoke of the frustration of not being able to pinpoint a suspect and the irritation at the lack of assistance from Adelaide CIB to help out at the Glenelg police station—that there was only a small team of detectives at Glenelg and they found it very difficult to keep up with the amount of information coming in from a well-meaning public. Investigating the crime itself, meeting with people, and taking and correlating their statements was time-consuming.

Over the next days and weeks, they had compiled boxes of notes and statements that were indexed and stored. Bill Hayes, a former detective in the Major Crime Squad in the 1980s, could attest to this. At one point he was given the task of looking through the boxes of information stored regarding this case. As Bill recollects, he immediately realised the enormity of the task at hand. One would require a team of detectives to sift through the amount of stored information. This was not a job for one person. As mentioned in Chapter 2, it did not take long for the detectives working at the station to become frustrated with the multitude of media camped outside the station day and night wanting ‘that scoop’.

Both Mostyn and Peter said to Stuart in 2008 over a cup of coffee in Glenelg, ‘We needed to be guarded, careful in what details they released to the public. There was a process when investigating cases, and information, where possible, had to be corroborated to avoid giving false hope to the parents and also to the concerned community.’

The media and the public needed to make sense of it all. They required a rallying point, and the Glenelg police station quickly became that focus. When further speaking with Mostyn and Peter, they explained that the main Adelaide media outlets were, overall, professional to work with but were still in need of ‘that scoop’ and would go to great lengths to secure one, corroborated or not.

The abduction of the Beaumont children was the biggest crime news story in Adelaide and arguably still is today. Alan Whiticker’s Searching for the Beaumont Children places this all in perspective: ‘The Beaumont case was heartbreaking, but the cold hard fact was, a scoop on the investigation was worth thousands or more copies to a newspaper’s circulation.’15

The public inundated the police station with phone calls to report perverts hanging around the toilet blocks of Colley Reserve. They were genuinely fearful that there was a sex-crazed maniac on the loose. Hence, this was truly the day Australia lost its innocence forever. The team of detectives followed up with a comment to journalists: They were clutching at straws.

Worse still, one newspaper got hold of Nancy and Jim’s Harding Street address and printed this in the paper. So, a beeline was made to their home at Somerton Park, where media contingents and nosy onlookers gathered for days on end outside their house, which further added to their distress. In the Adelaide Sunday Mail newspaper article of 31 January 1966 headlined ‘Sex Crime Now Feared’, Jim Beaumont spoke with a reporter, saying, ‘[Nancy] cries all the time and the doctor has to give her sedatives. If I could give my life right now for my kids to be returned safe and sound I would… and no questions asked.’16

The CIB in Adelaide oversaw the operations shortly after the children went missing and was headed by Inspector Noel Lenton with second-in-charge Alex Palmer, while the team at Glenelg, led by Ron Blight, continued to interview the general public, trying to piece together the events of the day. Despite the massive searches and door knocking of local residences, not a skerrick of physical evidence had been found. Alerts also went out to train and bus stations locally and interstate, but there was still no trace of the children.

Again, when speaking with Mullins in 2008, Mostyn Matters and Peter Vogel agreed that this abduction was baffling, Mos saying years later, ‘Who could be so damned brazen to abduct three children, let alone from a crowded reserve in broad daylight!’ This type of abduction defied logic, not only for Mos and Peter but also for the general public. Also frustrating to the team was the fact that Noel Lenton was still treating it as a missing-persons case. It was evident to the team at Glenelg, however, that this was an abduction.

To add to the team’s exasperation, Adelaide CIB waited twelve months before they released the information regarding Jane being given a pound note by the man at the beach. To many, withholding such a vital clue from the public was unforgivable. When Mullins spoke to Mostyn in 2010 at his local Adelaide residence, he asked, ‘Why would the Adelaide CIB withhold such vital information from the public?’ Mostyn replied he could only have a guess that those in charge wanted to keep an ace up their sleeve. For example, if someone contacted police saying they had the children, the detectives could move the narrative to money and await this individual’s response. However, had this information been released just after the disappearance, it just may have well changed the course of this case. To this day, Mostyn’s exasperation at this omission was noticeable to both of us.

As the media interest started to wane, one news outlet tried a new angle. They contacted Dutch clairvoyant and parapsychologist Gerard Croiset, who had had some success tracing missing persons. However, his success rate hovered around fifty percent, which would be no better than guessing. Bringing him over from Holland was in part bankrolled by Adelaide real estate tycoon Con Polites, for whom Nancy Beaumont worked at the time, and the Adelaide Dutch community. Mostyn’s view, when speaking with us years later, was that bringing Croiset to Australia turned the investigation into a circus. It did, however, reignite interest from the public, which unfortunately also included eccentrics and oddballs with their outlandish visions of what happened—coupled with an array of mediums, religious fanatics, mystics, diviners, prophets, and plain ‘wackos’, as Mostyn likes to describe them. Many did not go to the media; instead, they directed their attention and visits to the Glenelg police station. At the same meeting over a coffee at Glenelg in 2008, both Mostyn and Peter said to Stuart, ‘You could have written a book about these characters.’

Mos and the team were not supporters of Gerard Croiset and thought the whole escapade was a complete waste of time. This view was shared by Adelaide CIB and the South Australian Government. When Croiset arrived, he was met by a large contingent of media, as expected. He familiarised himself with the case and met Mr and Mrs Beaumont and inspected the family residence and the Colley Reserve area. A short time later, he led the media and police to a factory warehouse in Paringa Park where, he said, the children were buried at a factory under the flooring. A dig ensued, but nothing was found. The media dissipated and the clairvoyant flew home.

The detectives from the Glenelg station became known as the go-to officers for any information, which regularly included wild theories and speculation by members of the public. One narrative had the children taken overseas by white slavers; another, years later, was a possible sighting of the trio living as adults overseas; and another, abduction by religious zealots. Others accused the postman Tom Patterson of being involved. Some sections of the local community even turned on Mr and Mrs Beaumont, with rumours spreading that one or both parents were involved. However, Jim and Nancy had been interviewed as part of an investigation protocol and found to be in no way involved. Another man presented himself to the station proclaiming to be Jesus Christ; Detective Sergeant Ron Blight had pointed out that he could not walk on water.

The team kept Jim and Nancy regularly informed, but the Beaumonts were forced to endure unsolicited home visits by random people who had a theory to share. Jim and Nancy were always diplomatic and courteous, but their patience must have run thin, as well as their emotional and physical wellbeing. The fabric that was binding the two together was fraying at the edges.

In the following few years, another detective, Stan ‘Tonner’ Swain, took over the investigation as Chief of Homicide. He quickly gained the reputation that he perpetuated: that he was the man to solve the case of the missing Beaumont children. His ego was well known, not just by the officers around him but also by his family, and his dogged focus ended up destroying his marriage and his relationship with his children. He was noted to be a charmer and a relatively convincing talker, but also headstrong, traits that helped him climb the police ranks. However, like many, he became obsessed with the case, which led to his judgement and decision-making capabilities being called into doubt. Swain became known for following and investigating misleading or erroneous information, for not adhering to police department procedures, and for being deceitful. These flaws would eventually be his downfall.

The final straw for Jim and Nancy Beaumont, and the beginning of Stan Swain’s undoing, came in the form of what became known as the ‘The Dandenong Letters’. In 1968, Stan came into possession, through Jim and Nancy Beaumont, of a letter supposedly written by Jane saying she, Arnna, and Grant were all well and were with a nice man in Victoria, and asking them to meet at the Dandenong post office. The letter mentioned that the media was not to be involved. Stan was convinced this letter was genuine, despite Arnna’s name being misspelt and the handwriting not matching Jane’s. However, not to be deterred, Stan filled Nancy and Jim with hope, optimism, and anticipation and got them involved. Unknown to his superior, Noel Lenton, they all made the trip to Victoria—but the media got wind of his escapade and the story broke. When it all unfolded, this letter was found to be a cruel hoax. The man and the children did not turn up, only press reporters. Jim and Nancy Beaumont were so shattered and disillusioned by Stan’s deceptive behaviour they never gave another public interview.

Though Jim and Nancy’s hopes gradually faded, the public interest in their private tragedy never did. Many have asked what happened to Mr and Mrs Beaumont after they stopped speaking with the media. Mostyn Matters and Ron Blight had cemented a friendship with them both, with either Jim visiting the station hoping for a positive update, or both Matters and Blight stopping in at the family home. Mos noted that Nancy kept the children’s bedrooms as they were that January day in 1966, and their bikes could still be seen in the backyard. However, the not knowing and the lack of credible leads weighed heavily on the shoulders of both parents, and the constant media attention and scrutiny took its toll. Over time, Jim stopped frequenting the station, and he and Nancy’s relationship slowly dissolved into divorce in the early 1970s, and they sold their Harding Street home. Even though they separated, Nancy and Jim remained friends.
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